

Examining the impact of domestic abuse survivors on employee performance and recommendations for the employer

# Violeta Munteanu

Master of Arts in Human Resource Management

National College of Ireland

## **Abstract**

This research sought to extend our understanding on the consequences which may impact an organisation as a result of employees experiencing domestic abuse at home. Previous research has touched on this topic slightly which has helped to guide some aspects of this study. Interviews were held with victims of domestic abuse which had were employed at the time the abuse was occurring and the findings suggested that they had been negatively impacted within their professional career as a result to the abuse. These negative consequences included a loss in productivity and focus along with their attendance being affected and even their relationship with their manager had been impacted in some cases. The trauma which victims experience can have detrimental long term physical and especially psychological effects and many of the participants were left with mental health illnesses even after they had left their abuser. There are certain suggestions which employers can implement in order to protect and support victims and survivors of domestic abuse which would in turn benefit the organisation in the long run. These recommendations will be discussed in more detail below.

## **Declaration form**

# **Submission of Thesis and Dissertation**

# National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Violeta Munteanu Student Number: 16373446 Degree for which thesis is submitted: Master of Arts in Human Resource Management **Title of Thesis:** Examining the impact of domestic abuse survivors on employee performance and recommendations for the employer **Date:** 16/08/2021 Material submitted for award A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.  $\boxtimes$ B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.  $\times$ C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA. X D. Either \*I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award. Or \*I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below)

X

## Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thanks several people which positively impacted this research and helped me more than they realize.

Firstly, I would like to say a huge thank you to my supervisor, Michael Cleary-Gaffney, for his continuous guidance and support.

I would like to say a massive thank you to all interview participants who gave up time out of their day to share their experience with me, contributing to invaluable knowledge and insights to this research.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents, brother and partner for without them this would not have been possible along with my loving friends. The continuous support and love I have received through this past year has kept me motivated to constantly push my limits.

I am eternally grateful for your support.

# **Table of Contents**

Ab	stract	i	
Dec	claration form	ii	
Acl	knowledgements	111	
Tal	ble of Contents	iv	
1.	Introduction	1	
2.	Literature Review	2	
2.1.	Domestic abuse	2	
	Impact of domestic abuse on the employee		
2.3.	Impact of victims on the employer	3	
	The consequences of Covid-19 on domestic abuse		
2.5.	Organisational costs due to domestic abuse	5	
2.6.	Workplace support	9	
2.7.	Conclusion	11	
3.	Research Questions	12	
4.	Methodology	13	
4.1.	Research Philosophy	13	
	Research Sample		
4.3.	Research instrument	15	
4.4.	Data Analysis method	16	
4.6	4.6 Limitations		
5.	Analysis and Findings	18	
5.1.	Thematic Analysis	18	
5.2.	Type of Abuse	19	
5.3.	Stigma for seeking help	21	
5.4.	Individual differences on the impact of employment	22	
5.5.	Mental Health	25	
5.6.	Conclusion	26	
6.	Discussion	28	
7.	Conclusion	32	
	Recommendations, Timeline and Cost		
7.2.	Personal Reflection	33	

References:	35	
Appendices	42	
Appendix A: Interview questions:	42	
Appendix B: Types of abuse	43	
Appendix C: A breakdown of the abuse each participant endured	43	
Appendix D: Interview information sheet	44	
Appendix E: Consent form	47	

## 1. Introduction

Domestic abuse in women is unfortunately a lot more common than people perceive it to be. According to Women's Aid (2019) one in four women have been domestically abused by a past partner or a current one. However, domestic abuse does not just happen in an intimate relationship, but within families also. Therefore, women can experience domestic abuse even without being in a toxic relationship, increasing the possible domestic abuse chances. However, for the purpose of this research, domestic abuse caused by intimate partner relationships will be analysed. Domestic abuse predominantly affects women and it can be described as controlling, threatening, coercive or violent behaviour which is repetitive rather than once off (Oliver, Alexander, Roe, and Wlasny, 2019). The types of a abuse a victim may experience can include but is not limited to physical, psychological, sexual and financial abuse. When women experience such traumatic events, it may negatively impact their self-esteem, quality of work, attendance and productivity within the workplace. Furthermore, this research will examine what impacts the participants experienced on their work, if any. Moreover, the actions which employers can take to support employees experiencing domestic abuse will be discussed with the recommendation that it will increase the organisations overall profitability and the victim's welfare. Primary research was carried out through semi structured interview. The participants were all women which had experienced domestic abuse while being employed and noticed a change in their professional careers as a result. Many had experiences a change in their productivity along with their attendance being affected. The secondary research will be analysed below in the literature review from which the primary research was influenced by. This research took a qualitative approach rather than a quantitative approach is it better suited the topic and a methodology of how this was carried out will be discussed further below. Recommendations such as training, policies and raising awareness will be included for employers as a guide to approaching domestic abuse. The intention behind this study is to see understand how employers and organisations can help their employees which experience domestic abuse and in result the employees may increase their productivity, improve their attendance and improve their quality of work as well as improving overall morale which would benefit the organisation overall.

## 2. Literature Review

#### 2.1.Domestic abuse

Domestic abuse can also be known as domestic violence and it's a complex issue which can include a wide variety of behaviours and relationships. McGarry, Simpson and Hinchliff-Smith (2011) emphasize the long term damage domestic abuse can on the victim's overall wellbeing and their physical health. Furthermore, this may cause significant negative consequence for the victim affected and it includes mental, physical and sexual abuse (Watson and Parson 2005). McGarry et al. (2011) also include financial abuse as part of domestic abuse on top of the ones just mentioned. While some researchers such as Showalter (2016) focus on intimate partner domestic abuse, it is important to note that domestic abuse happens among family members also who are not intimate partners (Benbow, Bhattacharyya and Kingston, 2018). Domestic abuse can be described as "a pattern of physical, emotional or sexual behaviour between partners in an intimate relationship that causes, or risks causing, significant negative consequences for the person affected" (Watsons and Parson, 2005, p.23). These acts are not done on a singular basis but would become a repetitive action the abuser does. Physical abuse can include slapping, punching, thrown with force down stairs or into an object while emotional abuse consists of humiliation, isolation, using derogatory language and putting the victim in constant distress or fear through the way the abuser talks and acts towards them. Sexual abuse would include the abuser forcing sexual intercourse of any kind upon the victim, furthermore, depriving the victim of money is counted as financial abuse (Watsons and Parson, 2005). This is significant to note for this research as there are many young employees which live at home as they may not be able to afford to move out of their family home and suffer with domestic abuse. Especially in Ireland, where rent prices are extremely high and many young adults cannot afford to move out due to this. Without employment stability, a victim cannot have financial stability to help them move out of their abusers place and gain freedom.

## 2.2. Impact of domestic abuse on the employee

Safe Lives (2017) identified that 12.6% of women between 16 and 19 had already been exposed to domestic abuse in a report carried out in March 2015. The detrimental

effects of such horrid events at such young ages can have long term negative consequences for the victims, which may stunt their career development and affect their productivity within a role. There has been plenty of research carried out on the effects of domestic abuse in adult women, however, there has not been much focus put on what this could mean for the employer of these victims, as Lloyd and Taluc (1999) mention. Wilson (2005) highlights that 96% of employed women which are victims of domestic abuse have had their work negatively impacted as a result of the abuse they had gone through or are currently going though. The long term psychological trauma which victims may experience due to domestic abuse can be PTSD, depression, anxiety, feeling suicidal, self-harm, substance dependency and abuse (Sanderson, 2008). The victim's behavioural and cognitive aspects may be negatively affected also. Hypertension, chronic fatigue, chronic pain, scars, lung disease and nervous system disorders are just a few of the long term physical affects a victim may experience as highlighted by Sanderson (2008).

## 2.3. Impact of victims on the employer

The severity of employees suffering from domestic abuse can negatively impact an organisation due to employees suffering from "problems with cognitive functions such as concentration and memory, which, in turn, can affect work performance" (Banyard, Potter and Turner, 2011, p.17). Moe and Bell (2004) also mention increase in absenteeism, lowered productivity and increase in turnover, which an organisation may experience with employees affected by domestic abuse. Reeves and O'Leary-Kelly (2007) emphasize that there is an increase in absenteeism in victims who experienced domestic abuse in the past compared to non-victims in the workplace. However, it is interesting to note that there was no difference in absenteeism in employees who were currently experiencing domestic abuse in comparison to non-victim employees which did not suffer from this (Reeves and O'Leary-Kelly, 2007). In an early research study carried, Lloyd and Taluc (1999) found that there was not much of difference in employment for women who were experiencing domestic abuse at home. In contrary to other researchers, Lloyd and Taluc (1999) didn't notice a significant difference in turnover and absenteeism also. This could have been due to the victims being more motivated to keep their employment in order to gain financial independency and exit the toxic and abusive relationship as mentioned later in their findings (Lloyd and Taluc, 1999). This highlights the importance of a workplace for these vulnerable employees which may use their

attendance to work as a coping mechanism and as an escape from their abuser. This data is similar to Lloyds (1997) previous research where it was found that while domestic abuse would have a negative effect on women's socioeconomic and occupational status, it may not have much of an impact on their employment. However, Showalter (2016) also emphasizes the importance a stable job and financial freedom can have on a woman living abuse free. If a woman relies on her abuser for any kind of financial dependency, it can become very hard for her to leave her abusive partner without any money for basic necessities such as food and accommodation or a stable job to provide an income for herself. This situation can become even harder for women with children which may be stuck in an abusive relationship as they need to care for their children also, not just themselves. Young children can be an employment barrier for some women which can inhibit them from being employed or from accessing financial freedom as discussed by Tolman and Wang (2005). Thus, women feel trapped in abusive relationships, with minimal opportunity for them to seek for help or escape.

## 2.4. The consequences of Covid-19 on domestic abuse

Due to the recent Covid-19 pandemic, the domestic cases have risen dramatically in Ireland. The rapid move from working on site to remote working had dramatic negative consequences for victims of domestic violence which do not have the luxury to escape their toxic household, even for just a few hours a day for work. The hypothesis here is that the level of productivity would have dropped for victims of domestic abuse, especially working remotely, as they may find it harder to concentrate in a toxic environment. There has been a 25% increase in domestic violence calls recorded by the Gardai in April and May in 2020 compared to the same months in 2019 due to the pandemic (Doyle, 2020). United Kingdom have also experienced a dramatic increase, doubling their murders due to domestic violence in 2020 compared to the same time frame in 2019, France has also had an increase of 30% in domestic violence due to Covid-19 (Doyle, 2020). Furthermore, Europe has experienced a striking increase of 60% in emergency calls in April 2020 due to victim's restrictions to leave their household because of Covid-19 (Mahase, 2020). This is an extremely worrying increase compared to previous years and organisations should take this into account in order to maximise their profit and employee satisfaction. Taub (2020) suggest that when families are spending more time together than usual, domestic abuse rises. Christmas holidays or summer

holidays are examples of when domestic abuse rises as families are spending more time together. When lockdowns were enforced around the world, families had to spend all their time together, putting domestic abuse victims at constant risk and danger compared to previously. Taub (2020) emphasizes that within two weeks of entering the Covid lockdown, Spain had an increase of 18% in domestic abuse calls compared to the same time the previous month while France had an inflation of 30% in domestic abuse nationwide. This provides evidence for how important employment can be in a woman's life, especially for a victim of domestic abuse. There is no place for the victims to escape to even for a short period of time during the day.

## 2.5. Organisational costs due to domestic abuse

From the evidence provided above, domestic abuse victims are left with long term physical and psychological trauma which in turn, can have an impact on their employment and their employer's costs. Their productivity may be hindered due to a lack of focus, increase in distractions, mental health problem or physical injuries as a result of the abuse. It can be hard to measure the full economic costs a victim of domestic abuse has on an organisation as there are many factors contributing to this. Victims of domestic abuse affect the overall economy of an organisation, directly and indirectly. In a study carried out in the United States, it was found that the total cost of lost productivity due to domestic abuse was nearly 0.9 billion dollars (National Centre for Injury Prevention and Control, 2003). This portrays a significant decrease compared to the estimated costs of 5 billion annually as mentioned by Johnson & Indvik (1999). In a more recent study carried out in New Zealand, the organisational cost due to domestic abuse in employees was estimated at 368 million dollars for June in 2014 (Kahui, Ku and Snively (2014). Furthermore, in Peru the figure is almost double, as the financial dent to an organisation due to domestic abuse was estimated at 613.9 million dollars as mentioned by Vara-Horna (2014). In a survey carried out by KPMG for Vodafone in 2019, they estimated a number of 9000 employed women which experienced a reduction in productivity due to domestic abuse in Ireland (Vodafone, 2019). This number of employees could potentially cost the organisation 15 million if their productivity decreased by only 1%, 75 million of their productivity decreased by 5% and an astonishing 151 million if their productivity decreased by 10% (Vodafone, 2019). This enhances the drastic organisational costs due to domestic abuse victims within the workplace. Similarly, Tolman

and Wang (2005) found that women which experience domestic abuse worked 137 hours less than women which were not affected by domestic abuse. Therefore, domestic abuse within the women employees has a direct negative impact on a business as it contributes to their turnover and increases organisational costs due to absences. Other effects of domestic abuse on an organisation are loss of concentration among victims, job loss which contributes to a company's turnover rate and poor attendance costs as many abusers try to interfere with their victims workplace through a range of controlling actions (Moe and Bell, 2004; Adams, Tolman, Bybee, Sullivan, and Kennedy, 2012). Domestic abuse victims are more likely to lose their employment by either quitting or being dismissed by their employer compared to women which have not and do not experience domestic abuse while employed (Lindhorst, Oxford and Gillmore, 2007). The victim being dismissed could be due to misconduct they may have encountered due to the psychological of physical distress from their abuser. Recruitment costs are usually high depending on the industry and labour market at that particular time. Therefore, losing a valuable employee due to domestic abuse, whether they have resigned or have been dismissed can negatively impact an organisations costs. Similarly to the decreased amount of hours victims of domestic abuse work, Adams et al. (2012) discovered that victims of interpersonal partner violence had a decrease of 3.06 months worked at any employment as a consequence of the abuse. Even when the abuse is terminated, the victims are still left to deal with physical or psychological trauma for an extended period of time or the rest of their life in some cases. According to Beck, Clapp, Jacobs-Lentz, McNiff, Avery and Olsen (2014) anxiety as a result of domestic abuse can influence the level of performance a victim is able to carry out and in instances where the anxiety is severe, it can impact their career advancement also. Furthermore, organisations are faced with low performers due to mental health implications as a result of the abuse, ultimately resulting to recruiting outside the company for a senior role which the victim could have potentially advanced to if they would not have experienced domestic abuse. Stalking can be another tactic which abusers use in order to intimidate or control their victims, this form of abuse can negatively impact a victim even more. In some cases, the abusers stalk their victim in the workplace also, which has even more of a detrimental effect on the victim. As some victims use their place of employment as an escape from their abuser, if they are faced with their abuser in their workplace also, it can cause even more damage to their mental health. In a study carried out by Logan, Shannon, Cole and Swanberg (2007), it had been discovered that women which were being stalked by their abuser were being disrupted in work more than those which were not stalked and this affected their performance of their role

also. Similarly to previous points mentioned, this negatively impact the overall organisation and its costs. The abusers would use other tactics on their victims also in order to inhibit them to go to work or perform their job well. Logan et al. (2007) indicate another tactic within domestic abuse which would negatively impact an organisation, this tactic is when the abuser refuses to take care of the children, therefore not allowing the victim to go to work or to stay at work and would be forced to stay at home or come home early from work. Widiss (2018) also highlights some tactics which abusers use such as physically holding them back and not allowing them to leave the house or even hiding the keys to their car in order inhibit them from going to work.

There are so many tactics which abusers use on their victims which leads the victims with long or short term physical and mental health problems. Some victims may be so traumatized that they are unable to search for employment or become employed for a long period of time, leaving her to be financially dependent on their abuser or the government for any welfare. Women which have experienced domestic abuse in the past are referred to as survivors. Lindhorst et al, (2007) and Showalter and McCloskey (2020) both discovered that job instability was more prominent among victims and survivors rather than women which were not affected by domestic abuse in their past or currently. As employers begin to understand more about employee satisfaction, motivation and performance, it is important to note what may affect these externally and not just internally within a company. Although employers expect employees to perform to the best of their ability every time they are in work, this is not realistic as external factors which may affect an employee could have an impact on their work life and not just their personal life. It's difficult for an employee to turn off their feelings as they walk into work, therefore it's important for an employer to take this into consideration when developing policies and development plans or training. Costs can become high when reduced productivity, increase in turnover and increase in absenteeism are calculated and in some cases legal liabilities and medical expenses could be necessary also, bringing costs even higher. Personal problems do have an impact on an employee's performance, productivity, absenteeism and ultimately add to the company's overall costs. These hidden costs can add up between 3 to 5 billion dollars which an employer is suffering form due to domestic abuse victims and survivors among their employees (Showalter and McCloskey, 2020). The amount of days victims and survivors are absent due to this is concerning for employers. While Tolman and Wang (2005) discovered that women affected by domestic abuse work 137 hours less than women which were not affected, this seems to

have increased drastically as in a more recent study, Showalter and McCloskey (2020) identified that employees affected by this miss 175,000 days annually. That is 175,000 days in which employers are losing out on productivity, inflated costs to covers the employees absent, healthcare costs and unsatisfied colleagues as more work may be forced onto them which could result in an increase in turnover. An employer which does not take a proactive approach when they find out an employee is experiencing domestic abuse, will lose out on overall company profit. Lindquist, McKay, Clinton-Sherrod, Pollack, Lasater and Walters (2010) related to the figure mentioned above as they also suggest that victims of domestic abuse can cause businesses a loss of 3 to 5 billion dollars in the United States every year. Domestic abuse does not exclusively just affect women, men can be victims of this also, however, as this predominantly affects women. Widiss (2008) notes that introducing a legislation for domestic abuse could be a step forward to diminish inequality of genders within the workplace.

As suggested previously, domestic abuse definitely has an impact on female employment stability and progression within their careers. Therefore, employers which provide support for their employees which may have or are currently experiencing domestic abuse, play a positive proactive role in the victims employment journey and healing from the abuse or trying to escape their abuser. Widiss (2008) also emphasizes the importance of financial stability for a victim trying to detach herself from the abuser, a very sensitive time where the victim being dismissed rather than offered support, may put them in an extremely dangerous situation. In some extreme cases, the victims may end up being murdered by their abuser or even committing suicide as an escape. The sad reality is that one in four women report to have been domestically abused at least once in their life time (Widiss, 2008). Furthermore, 24% to 52% of domestic abuse victims claimed to have lost their job due to domestic abuse, either being dismissed for being late, poor performance, absenteeism or bringing their personal life into work or by being forced to resign by their abuser. Financial instability traps the victims in staying with their abuser or returning to them if they had escaped before as their only other choice is usually to be homeless (Widiss, 2008). Although these studies were carried out in the US, domestic abuse is prevalent worldwide, in some countries it's more common than others and it affects women of any races, financial status, level of education or religion and according to the World Health Organisation (WHO, 2013) 30% of women which have been in a relationship have experienced at least one type of domestic abuse.

As highlighted by Johnson and Gardner (1999), ignoring employee's personal problems such as domestic abuse has no benefit on the employer in the long run as these issues will impact the employee's ability to be productive and work as efficiently as they would have before the domestic abuse. Therefore, it would be advised that employers take a proactive approach through training, implementation of policies or programs and strategies to support domestic abuse victims.

## 2.6. Workplace support

Providing supportive services to domestic abuse victims could contribute to their mental health and overall wellbeing which would in return benefit the organisation. There are tangible and intangible support which a workplace can offer for employees suffering with mental health problems. Tangible supports include definite practices and policies a workplace may have in place for their employees. This could include sick pay policies, employees assistance programs (EAP) or specific training and development programs offered. On the other hand, intangible or informal support systems psychologically help the victim through the actions of supportive and comforting colleagues which may provide a listening ear so that the victims does not feel isolated and alone (Swanberg, Macke and Logan, 2006). According to a study carried out by Swanberg et at. (20016), 65% of employed women had confined in someone at work about their domestic abuse experience. This could have been reported to a colleague or a member of management. This means that 33% of victims did not feel comfortable enough to bring this up to someone within their workplace. Lindquist et al. (2010) suggests that companies should have EAPs which are specifically tailored to support domestic abuse victims as well as employees suffering with their mental health as the benefits of this for an employer may include preventing a crisis situation which may impact costs and provides a confidence boost and trust between the employees including management. However, Lindquist et al. (2010) highlights that only a small number of companies understand the negative consequences which employees experiencing domestic abuse may have on the overall organisation, therefore, not many provide support systems in this area.

Although there has not been much research done to prove the results of employer's providing support systems for victims of domestic abuse compared to those which do not provide any specific support systems, we can make an educated guess based on similar

topics. For example, it is common for companies to have bereavement policies in place in order to support an employee experiencing bereavement due to the known hardship this brings on an individual, especially within the workplace. According to a research in regards to the impact of bereavement in employees which Wilson, Rodrigues-Prat and Low (2020) carried out, all of their participants stated that they needed help and accommodation in order to return to work and recoup their ability to work again after a bereavement. Similarly to the impact of domestic abuse victims, bereavement can impact an employee's emotional, cognitive and physical ability to work which can negatively impact organisational costs in the long run (Wilson et al, 2020). It is suggested that there is a considerable positive benefit to be gained directly for the employers if they facilitate support for bereavement in order for their employees to recover from their grief before returning back to work and during their time in work (Wilson et al, 2020). Tehan and Thompson (2013) emphasize that it is unrealistic to expect employees to leave their feelings at the door as they enter their workforce and therefore must be supported and adequate policies must be put in place to protect their employees in such hardships. Bereavement can impact grieving employees as it reduces their focus, reduces their quality of work as increase in error may occur, reduced productivity and irritability which could lead to workplace conflicts (Tehan and Thompson, 2013). The impact of bereavement in employees compared to the impact of domestic abuse victims are extremely similar and the negative consequence on the employer are costly. Although there is no legal requirement for employers to provide bereavement leave in Ireland, majority of companies have a policy in place to provide support and adequate time off for their grieving employees, however, the amount of time off they office is up to the individual company (Irishjobs Career Advice, 2019). Therefore, if providing a policy, time off and flexibility for grieving employees has proven to be an effective way to support employees, perhaps the same positive impacts can occur for victims of domestic abuse if organisation approach this topic proactively. Gayed, Milligan-Saville, Nicholas, Bryan, LaMontagne, Milner, Madan, I., Calvo, Christensen, Mykletun, and Glozier (2018) also indicate that certain policies within the workplace can positively impact an employee suffering with their mental health and as mentioned previously, many victims of domestic abuse suffer with their mental health as a response to the trauma. If organisations would have specific policies to offer leave of absence due to domestic abuse, flexibility, training, EAPs or other methods implemented to help their employees experiencing domestic abuse, they would ultimately have a proactive approach to support employees.

#### 2.7. Conclusion

Deriving from the evidence above, the negative consequences on an organisation add up to be extremely costly. Forcing a victim into unemployment due to their poor performance should not be practiced by an employer, as this would prove as poor organisational ethics. Furthermore, it would cost more to replace the employee lost rather than offering help and supporting the employee to cope with the domestic abuse and hopefully to escape it. Without financial stability, it could be too difficult for women to escape their abuser, especially if they financially rely on them for shelter and basic needs. Dismissing a victim of domestic abuse could cause extreme negative consequences for the victim, and may even trap them further in this toxic loop. Many victims rely on their employment as a coping mechanism as well as replying on the steady and secure financial outlet and where offered, the support of their employer (Showalter, 2016; Kahui et, al., 2014; Banyard et, al. 2011; Moe and Bell,2004). By helping their employees escape domestic abuse, the employees may form a sense of loyalty to the company as well as increasing their productivity, turnover, performance, morale and overall employee satisfaction.

## 3. Research Questions

The following section will outline the primary objectives of this study and he questions which helped guide this research will be discussed. These questions were influenced by secondary research literature which was studied. The literature based on how domestic abuse victims impact an employer and the support systems which employers can provide to support the victims was limited which raised the curiosity of this research even more. If this aspect of an employee's life has such negative impact on an organisation, then how come not more awareness raised among employers regarding this? The impact of domestic abuse victims on their employers are similar to the impact made my employees experiencing bereavement or being sick for a prolonged time, however, majority of employers have bereavement policies and long term sickness policies in place. The questions will explore what the participants would suggest employer provide in order to support employees experiencing this abuse along with what the primary changes they noticed in their work as a result of the abuse. The research was conducted through semi structured interviews as previous literature such as Moe and Bell (2004), Showalter and McCloskey (2020) and Lindquist et al. (2010) carried out as this research is qualitative rather than quantitative. Drawing on previous research, the following questions will be addressed throughout.

## **Objective 1:**

What are the employment experiences of victims and survivors of domestic abuse?

## **Objective 2:**

What are the direct impacts of employees suffering from domestic abuse on the organizations?

## **Objective 3:**

What support systems do victims of domestic abuse think would be helpful and would like employers to implement?

## 4. Methodology

## 4.1. Research Philosophy

In order to get the optimum results out of this research study, this thesis will take a qualitative research approach rather than a quantitative approach. A quantitative approach is more focused on surveys, questionnaires or experiments given to individuals and focuses on the numerical data received from participants (Choy, 2014). This type of research is optimum for when a researcher must see a pattern or correlation between data variables and outcomes. On the other hand, qualitative research leans towards having open ended conversation with people to gather data. In regards to this research, an interpretative qualitative approach is used as this allows us to understand the experiences that the participants (Merriam, 2002) had with domestic abuse and how this impacted their workplace. Furthermore we will be able to interpret how this impacted the organisations that these victims have worked for, as a response to the domestic abuse. The impact on the participant's health and mental health will be discussed as well as how their trauma directly impacted their employment. When a victims experiences this, it may be hard to reach out for help, especially in work. Data will be analysed in order to understand if victims feel comfortable to reach out to a manager or a colleague for help. For participants which did not reach out for help, the reasons behind this will be discussed. While this topic is sensitive, a qualitative approach was preferred in order to see this topic through the participant's point of view to gather a more intellectual and emotional understanding in this area (Dickson-Swift, James, Kippen and Liamputtong, 2009)

The purpose of this qualitative research study is to gather a more in depth understanding on how domestic abuse affects victims within the workplace and how organizations can support these victims. The impact of domestic abuse on an employee can affect the organizations overall productivity and can increase their costs. The idea behind this research is that if employers would be able to support employees which suffer from domestic abuse, this may decrease the company's turnover, a decrease in faulty products or mistakes, diminish some of the costs implied by the victims and improve overall employee morale. The aim here is to understand what support systems employers can put in place and how they can approach this sensitive topic within the organization.

The qualitative approach is superior to the quantitative approach for this research as it provides a more solid ground to answer the research questions previously mentioned. This

approach offered the opportunity to probe the participants depending on their individual experiences during the interview process. Qualitative research studies include having openended interviews with participants which allows them to share their unique experiences with domestic abuse as Patton (2005) states. The qualitative interview process allows us to gather as much data as possible from each participant as they all had unique experiences and have been affected in many different way within the workplace while they were domestically abused at home.

## 4.2. Research Sample

My research sample consisted of nine women that had experienced domestic abuse which manifested in psychological, physical, sexual, financial or the four combined and have been employed during this though time. The geographical region for participants was wide with participants living in Ireland, England and America and all interviews were conducted in English. Snowball sampling was used through social media regarding this research in order to gather the suitable participants for this, allowing the victims to reach out if they were comfortable to share their story. Snowball sampling is a research method used in instances where participants are hard to find and reach, therefore this requires the use of social media (Leighton, Kardong-Edgren, Schneidereith, and Foisy-Doll, 2021). Domestic abuse support groups on Facebook were joined and with the admins permission, a brief post was shared with an overview in regards to what this research is and a note was included that participants were needed to carry this out. Initially, four women reached out to be interviewed regarding their experience for this research. Additionally, other social media platforms such as Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn were used to post about this research proposal and with the help of family, friends and acquaintances the posts were retweeted, re-shared and reposted, reaching a wider social demographic. An email address was included for the interested participants to reach out and a note to say that participants could reach out through direct messaging on social media also. The direct messaging addition meant that participants could cut one extra step of opening up their emails, looking for the email address and typing out the email, making it a little bit faster for them to reach out.

Overall there were 13 women and 1 man who reached out to be potential participants for this research. Out of the total potential participants, 9 of these reached out directly

through the Instagram page but unfortunately, 5 were not able to participate when further information was provided to them or they did not meet the guidelines of the research. Some reasons for this inhibition were that they were not comfortable doing an interview, they did not work during the domestic abuse or the abuse happened when they were minors. There were 3 participants which reach out through my email and 2 reached out directly on Facebook. Overall, 9 women were successfully interview regarding their experience with domestic abuse while in the workplace. When the potential participants first reached out, more details were provided to them such as how the interview will be conducted, how long they would roughly take and confirmed that they were working while the domestic abuse was occurring. The next step was to ask for their availability for the interview, and book them in.

#### 4.3. Research instrument

Due to geographical distances and a global pandemic taking place during the time frame that the interviews were conducted, they could not be held face to face. Instead, an adaption was made to accommodate this change and the interview were conducted on Microsoft Teams. Due to the sensitivity of the topic and the danger that the participants could potentially be exposed to, a participation information sheet was not sent to them in advance. This was due to fear that they may still be in a domestic abuse currently and in case the abuser saw this information sheet, it may have put the participant's life at risk. However, when each participant joined the meeting, the screen was shared with the information sheet open and then allowed some time for them to read through the information sheet and ask any questions they may have. Once this was completed, their permission to record was asked and once consent to this was given, recording of the interview begun and the interviewing process started. When the interview commenced, each participant was informed that they are under no obligation to answer any questions they did not feel comfortable with and could choose to leave the interview altogether. Interview questions were open ended in order to allow the participants to speak freely about their experiences, this allowed them to express themselves which would not have happened if I would have asked closed ended questions. An approach to open ended interview questions which was semi structured was taken as there was only one chance to interview the participants and this allowed the participant to express their views freely (Cohen and Crabtree, 2006). This is an extremely sensitive topic for someone to share with someone they do not know or trust, especially when face to face human contact is

erased and everything is carried in front of a screen. The video camera was turned on for every interview in order to gain the participants trust and to try and simulate a face to face interview. Participants had the option to turn their cameras on or keep them turned off, whichever they felt most comfortable with. All participants chose to turn their camera's on bar one participant which expressed that her anonymity is extremely important to her due to fear of her safety. Each interview durations was from 15 to 30 minutes and were carried out between 4<sup>th</sup> to the 17<sup>th</sup> of June 2021. The interview questions were guided by previous literature which was studied and some of which is included above. Deriving from previous literature, many researchers chose to carry out interview and this allows the researcher to focus on particular themes (Showalter and McCloskey, 2020). A total of 19 questions were produced to ask in the interview, these questions are included in Appendix A of this research.

## 4.4.Data Analysis method

After each interview was carried out, a couple of minutes were taken to write down some notes regarding that interview. Notes were not taken during the interview itself as to not throw the participant off as it is such a sensitive and triggering topic. Each interview was then transcribed into written text which aided in analysing the data gathered. Two predominant themes had emerged on how domestic abuse victims are affected within the workplace from the data gathered.

#### 4.6 Limitations

The main limitation regarding this study was the nature of the topic which is extremely sensitive and triggering for people which have experienced domestic abuse. Gathering participants proved to be tougher than initially anticipated and due to the time constraint there were with less participants than originally planned. Another limitation was time and time zone differences. As both the interviewer and the participants work full-time, finding a suitable time to suit both parties was challenging. There were participants in Eastern Time zones, this was another limitation in trying to schedule the interview to a suitable time. The coronavirus global pandemic was ongoing throughout this research and as Ireland was in lockdown at the time that interviews were conducted, it meant that the interviews had to be

carried out over Microsoft Teams. Not being able to meet the participants which were situated in Ireland, decreased the sense of trust which may have formed in a face to face interview rather than a virtual one. Another limitation was the sampling method which was through the snowball method. As this topic area is very personal, the groups which were joined on Facebook included people which were there looking for help during their time of distress due to domestic abuse. The probability that these victims and survivors wanted to participate in this research was low as they were there to be offered support rather than having to express their experience in an interview. This sampling method gave little to no control over participants.

Literature on the effect of domestic abuse on an organisation and how organisations can best support these victims were limited which slightly hindered the gathering of an in depth perspective on this subject. However, the limitations of this research did not affect this qualitative research to a point where it was not possible and each limitation was surpassed by adapting a different approach which was better suited.

## 5. Analysis and Findings

## 5.1. Thematic Analysis

The primary aim of this research is to gain a better understanding on how domestic abuse in women affects them in employment and what the employer can do to support these victims within their employment in order to diminish or minimise the repercussions of this within the company. The participants of the interviews were all female survivors of domestic abuse which had been employed during the period domestic abuse was occurring. The primary data gathered from this research emphasized the repercussions of domestically abused employees on their employment, majority of the impacts that the participants were encountering were predominantly negative rather than positive. Semi structured interviews with employed victims of domestic abuse were held to gather this primary research. The results of this were explored by using thematic analysis by coding all the results and analysis from the interviews and collectively putting them into the different themes which emerged throughout the interviews (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The findings discussed in this chapter correlate with the secondary data discussed previously in this research. Initially, all interview participants claimed that the domestic abuse at home impacted their ability to have employment security, productivity, attendance and mental and physical health. Therefore, this points to the undeniable importance for employers to invest time and resource into this area in order to support their employees faced with this difficult challenge. Furthermore, participants claimed to not feel comfortable to disclose this hardship within the workplace, to their colleagues or a member of management due to feeling embarrassed or fear of judgement. The findings and analyses of these findings will be discussed below under their primary themes while referring to secondary data included in the literature review of this research also.

**Table 1: Themes** 

## Themes Sub-Themes

	Fear or	Personal		Workplace
Stigma for seeking help	consequence	shame	Repercussions	support
Individual differences				
on the impact of	Quality of			
employment	work	Productivity	Loss of employment	Attendance
Mental health	Anxiety	Depression	PTSD	
Type of abuse	Physical	Sexual	Psychological	Financial

## 5.2. Type of Abuse

Domestic abuse can include many types of abuse which the victim can experience and from the research carried out, there were 4 predominant types of abuse which the participants endured. Please refer to appendix B and C to see a table which portrays all the types of abuse each participant experienced. The types of abuse the participants experienced were sexual, physical, psychological and financial abuse. These types of abuse may seem familiar as they have been previously discussed with reference made to McGarry et al, (2011) and Watson and Parson's (2005), connecting the secondary data gathered together with the primary data. Out of the 9 participating women, 5 participant experienced physical and psychological abuse, 1 participant experienced psychological, physical and sexual abuse and the remained experienced psychological, physical, sexual and financial abuse. Some of the participants did not realise they were in an abusive relationship until after on in the relationship or when friend or family pointed it out to them. Participant 6 notes that "it started off very subtle, he was so charming and he was like the best, you couldn't fault him" before the psychological and physical abuse started. The abuse started off slow with participant's 6 abuser making comments about her appearance, isolating her from friends and family and constant texts and calls as a form of control "He would kind of make me choose between him and my family and I was completely isolated". Similarly with participant 5 which expressed that it first crept up as with psychological abuse at first before getting extremely physically violent "It got to a point where I was thrown down the stairs and he had his foot on the back of my neck" and "smashing my head against the window as I was driving". Participant 5 claimed

that it was only after she had terminated the relationship and opened up to her friends that she realised what she had been through as she would have made excuses for him during the abuse. Participant 7 also mentioned that she didn't notice the abuse until further into the relationship "I didn't know it was abusive at the time so when I actually realized it was about and a half in". Many of the participants stated that they were either scared of judgement or they had received judgement for being in an abusive relationship with people telling them to just leave, however as can be seen from the above statements, for many victims it's hard to distinguish the situation they are in until later on in the relationship or afterwards. This may portray the lack of awareness there is in regards to domestic abuse and what this is.

Participant 4 experienced sexual abuse on top of psychological and physical abuse for a long period of time before gaining her freedom "it was physical, mental, sexual assaults on a regular basis". It can be isolating for victims to experience this and have to go into work and perform to the best of their ability even when there are visible signs of domestic abuse as participant 4 stated "I would be going to work with bruises all over me frequently" yet none of her colleagues or management approached to see if she needed support. The need for financial stability from employment for a victim to escape (Lloyd and Taluc, 1999) is emphasized by 3 participants which experience financial abuse on top of the three other types mentioned above. At the start of participant's 7 relationship, her abuser was the predominantly bringing the financial income, however, he held this against her "There was financial abuse because he was in the military and he was like the breadwinner of the family and his job provided us housing and insurance and everything like that and even to this day he's still like financially and emotionally terrorizing me". The sexual abuse had an immense impact on participant 8 also as she was faced with "pervy managers" when she went into work, further adding to her trauma from the abuse and a massive reason why she didn't feel comfortable to reach out for help. Financial abuse can be detrimental to a person as it can inhibit their self-sufficiency and threatens their economic security through control tactics by the abuse (Cameron, 2014). The lack of money and control over their financial economy can make a victim feel trapped and isolated and without financial stability or a stable income, it can be hard or even impossible to leave the abuser.

## 5.3. Stigma for seeking help

It can be argued from an employer's point of view that they may not be aware of any of their employees going through domestic abuse and therefore may not be able to help if they are not made aware by the employees. However, reaching out for help, especially within their employment has proven to be a challenge for the participant's interviewed. This theme emerged in each participant and the predominant reasons for this are counted as sub-themes. Many participants felt that they could not reach out for help to their colleagues or someone from management due feeling embarrassed, fearing that the abuser may find out and that their colleagues would judge them, lack of known support for domestic abuse and the repercussions of this on them and their family. 88.9% of interviewed participants felt embarrassed to reach out for help, or if they did reach out, they were embarrassed afterwards. Participant 2 stating that "I felt embarrassed to reach out for help". Even on the very low chance that a victim does speak up it may sometimes be overlooked or ignored which can lead to embarrassment as participant 7 claimed she "felt embarrassed to reach out initially and even when I eventually reached out as they didn't take it seriously and didn't believe me or offer any support". If their abuse works in the same company at them, this can be another barrier for victims to reach out for help as participant 2 mentioned that she" felt embarrassed and not comfortable to reach out for help at work as he worked there too". There was one participant which didn't feel embarrassed about reaching out for help or talking about this in work with her manager as she described them to have a close relationship, however, participant 1 did note that due to the trauma gained from domestic abuse, she would have been "hesitant to reach out for help in men within management".

Having children while being domestically abused can be another barrier for victims seeking freedom. Four participants, 44.5%, explained that they feared to reach out for help, especially in work. Participant 1 explained that she was scared to tell anyone in work because "I have children and didn't want anyone other knowing my situation in case it backfired on me with social services". As stated previously in the literature review, Tolman and Wang (2005) recognise that having children can be a barrier for victims to reach for help or seek freedom due to fear of judgement or their children being taken from them due to their violent environment. Participant 4 related to participant's 1 statement and added that she "worked in a council and felt very self-conscious and intimidated to go and reach out for help as I had children and didn't want social services to take them due to my situation", she also

emphasized that she "didn't want my co-workers to look at me different if they found out". If the sensitive data is not handled properly when a victim reached out for help and the abuser finds out, it puts their life at risk. Therefore participant 2 also feared to reach out as "sometimes if you speak up, the abuser may know and if the situation is not dealt with, you're stuck in a domestic abuse relationship where your abuser knows you've spoken out which can out your life at risk". This emphasizes the importance of confidentiality within the workplace where employees feel safe and comfortable to speak up about a particular issue without fearing that anyone else inside or outside the company may find out.

A number of participants also mentioned that the repercussions of reaching out for help was not worth it and as mentioned above for the participants with children, the repercussion of having their children take from them by social services didn't outweigh the need to reach out for help. 22.2% of participants noted that they didn't reach out for her due to the repercussions that they may experience and participant 4 mentioned that she "preferred to have the abuser sleep on the couch than to leave him and have to watch my back constantly" and therefore didn't want the people she worked with to know about her situation and pass judgement or be treated differently. As many victims use their workplace as a break from their toxic household, they rarely want to bring this aspect of their life into the workplace and prefer to keep this private. The lack of support systems and awareness within their workplace is another influence to not reach out for help. Only one participant was aware of support systems specifically for domestic abuse within her workplace, while the remainder claimed that they weren't aware of any support systems available or their employer didn't provide any. Participant 7 did reach out for help to her manager, however she didn't receive any support and was ignored, although she tried phone therapy, she had to discontinue this as her manager didn't accommodate the time off she needed to attend the therapy sessions. Furthermore, participant 9 mentioned she was dismissed when she reached out for help to her boss "My boss dismissed me for bringing my personal life into work". This further portrays the lack of awareness and education on domestic abuse among organisations and employers.

## 5.4. Individual differences on the impact of employment

All participants interviewed claimed that their domestic abuse experience impacted their quality of work, their productivity levels were affected along with their attendance and

even led them to voluntarily or involuntarily end employment as a result. For the employers which think that their employees should leave their personal life at home as mentioned by Widiss (2008) previously, this should be an eye opener which proves that this expectation is not realistic. Firstly, all participants noticed a change in their quality of work with 3 participants working more effectively and intently as an escape while the rest were negatively impacted in this area. Participant 2 noted that while she "worked more intently and buried herself in work due to the pressure at home" she eventually became more distracted and was "unable to focus on tasks properly". Participant 4 mentioned that she "used work as an escape from my abuse, I was committed to the job and would do overtime" yet, similarly to the participant 2, the quality of work she could do was limited as she was often in pain "I would try and do tasks at work but sometimes I was unable to because I was hurt from the physical abuse at home". Other participants experienced loss of focus, loss of memory, lack of motivation and an increase in mistakes which had an impact on the quality of work they produced. Ultimately, this led to their productivity within the workplace to be impacted also. Participant 1 acknowledged that she was "less productive" in work as a result of her "lack of concentration and loss of memory" due to domestic abuse. Participant 3 developed PTSD due to the abuse which negatively affected her productivity due to her increase in "procrastinating" as a result of her mental health diagnosis. Participant 8 was working within the hospitality industry when she started to experience domestic abuse and highlighted that she was excellent at customer service as she had a friendly and bubbly personality but she became very closed off and discontinued to speak to customers the same way she would have previously due to the abuse, affecting her productivity and the overall customer satisfaction in her place of work "the domestic abuse changed me completely where I wouldn't participate as much and I wasn't interacting with any customers or colleagues anymore". This lack of customer interaction could negatively impact how the employer brand is perceived by customers, impacting the organisations costs internally and potentially externally also.

Many of the participants had to resign or had been dismissed as a result of domestic abuse. It has been mentioned previously in this research that abusers tend to try and control their victims and often times this means that they can inhibit the victim's ability to go to work in order to restrain them from gaining financial freedom and maintaining them in a stage of job instability (Lindhorst et al, 2007; Showalter and McCloskey, 2020). As briefly mentioned above, participant 9 was dismissed from her role when she had explained to her manager why she had to leave early the previous day due to "bringing personal life into work". Other

participants had to change jobs also due to domestic abuse as the abusers actively tried to inhibit their victims to go to work through many control tactics. Participant 2 explained that she had to "leave employment due to domestic abuse because I wasn't safe" as her abuser came to her workplace frequently and "would cause a scene". Therefore when she left her abuser, she had to change employment so he wouldn't know where she was and couldn't come in to harm her. Participant 4 has a similar experience as she had to leave her job because her abuser would disrupt her in work "I had to leave one of my jobs as my abuser would come into my workplace and would make me feel unsafe". Furthermore, she became a gardener which would travel to different locations every day in order to feel safe within the workplace as her abuser didn't know what location she would be at when she was in work. This rises an organisations turnover, increasing organisational costs especially when the role has to be filled and recruiting can be costly.

Attendance was another employment area which was highly impacted as a result of control tactics by abusers. Participants experience an increase in being late to work, having to leave early or being absent from work completely. This affected their relationship with their employer and in some instances, it put the participant under stress having to deal with the repercussions of being late to work or absent altogether. Out of all the participants, 55.6% of these had their attendance in work affected as a direct result of domestic abuse. Similarly to the tactics discussed previously by Logan et al, (2007), participant 4's abuser would try and consciously make her late to work by "hiding my work boots" and "leaving the house as I would need to leave for work" while he should have been minding their children so they would not be left unsupervised. This inhibited participant 4 to leave for work in time, making her late frequently and causing her a "lot of anxiety having to deal with the repercussions of being late in work". Participant 7 also noted that her "attendance was really affected" as she was "often late" and had "a lot of sick days" which damaged her relationship with her manager "my relationship with my manager wasn't great due to my absences and latest in work". Furthermore, as a result of the abuse, participant 3 "experienced extreme fatigue in work" and had to reduce her hours in work to 32 a week compared to the normal 40 she would have usually done. Meanwhile, participant 6 explained that her abuser didn't want her to work and would encourage her to stay at home by telling her "you're not able to do it like you're not physically or mentally able for it" while participant 5 had to take a long period of time off work as she was struggling with her mental health and was "suicidal" and battled with "depression and anxiety". These absences, along with turnover, sick days and lates

directly impact an organisations cost and culture as other employees may have to help out more while their colleague is absent, causing potential conflict and satisfaction.

When questioned on what the participants suggested employer's do in order to support them, majority replied that they wanted a safe space and a confidential person they can go to and talk. Participant 2 noted "A designated person within the company where you can discretely go to regarding this, and they give you all the options and resources available" which is similar to the response participants 4, and 5 provided. Another popular suggestion given was that employers provide annual training for all employees to recognise domestic abuse and to give advice on how to cope with it as participant 9 suggested "More training for workplaces to educate what domestic abuse if and how to help others cope with it". While other participants suggested that training be provided to managers rather than all employees as mentioned by participant 1 "Training for managers on what domestic abuse is and the impact on the victim and how to help". The participants wanted to see more awareness raised around domestic abuse within their workplace rather than it be such a shameful and taboo subject, along with local resources they can access as stated by participant 8 noted "list available resource to employees". Similarly, participant 7 suggested to provide "an information sheet of services victims can reach out to would be good". Participant 3 had a different recommendation compared to the rest as she suggested to "limit access in the workplace to employees only where they can enter the building using a badge and visitors need to be checked in". This is an important recommendation as it would inhibit the abuser to come to the victim's workplace and cause a scene, become violent or destroy company property.

#### 5.5. Mental Health

As a result of the ongoing domestic abuse, majority of the participants were left with mental health problems even long after they had escaped their abuser and were living an abuse free life. It is important to note that all participants were not in a domestic abusive relationship at the time which the interview had taken place. The main mental health illnesses which were disclosed by the participants were post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression and anxiety as a result of their experience. Anxiety was the most prominent

mental health diagnosis among the participants which 4 participant experienced. Participant 6 stated that she "developed anxiety during the abuse" which she still suffers from. Similarly, participant 4 developed anxiety as her abuser frequently came "into my workplace and would make me feel unsafe" and as a result of the physiological abuse she endured. On the other hand, participant 3 was left with PTSD as a result of her domestic abuse experience which had a significant negative impact on her employment as the symptoms for PTSD replicated the "symptoms of ADHD which let me to procrastinate more" reducing her productivity in work. Participant 8 battles with PTSD also along with "a grocery list of mental health problems" including depression and anxiety. Lastly, 3 participants were still battling depression long after they had left their abuser with participant 7 having to take time off for her mental health as previously mentioned above. Participant 1 expressed that depression really affected her and her employment as she had lost her self-esteem and confidence, lacked motivation, gained significant weight and overall "stopped taking an interest in myself and how I looked, it was like I didn't care about how I was at all". This ties in with the secondary data provided previously in the literature review as Sanderson (2008) highlighted the long term mental health problems which could arise from domestic abuse and this included PTSD, depression and anxiety.

#### 5.6. Conclusion

The focus of this research was to see if victims of domestic abuse have an impact on their employer and how this impact would manifest. By understanding how they impact their workplace and how domestic abuse affects them in work, employers can start to take proactive measures to support their victims which in turn would benefit the organisation in the long run. After analysing all the interviews, it has been made clear that domestic abuse impacts a victims within their workplace and not just at home. Both primary and secondary research pointed to a very similar direction of how employers are affected. The themes and subthemes identified above provide evidence that an organisation's turnover, attendance, productivity, quality and work culture which can ultimately impact the organisational costs, in many instances their costs may rise as a direct result. When participants were asked what they suggest employers to provide in order to support domestic abuse victims, majority of the

results were similar. Majority of the participants suggested that employee's assign a specific person where employees can go to and speak with them about such matters without fear of repercussions or other colleagues finding out about their problems. They want a discrete listening ear to confide in. Other suggestions made were annual training for all staff to recognise signs of abuse and more awareness to be raised in regards to this, participant 7 suggested "more training around domestic abuse and how to notice the signs of it and how to help the victims would be great along with an information sheet of services victims can reach out to". Furthermore participant 2 suggested a call line to make "employees feel safe to speak up, a call line when you can call and it be discrete". On the other hand, participant 3 suggested that employers provide more flexibility for time off and working schedule along with "limited access into the workplace, where employees have badges and visitors need to be checked in" to make victims feel safe and limit the abuser's unexpected visit to their place of work. Ultimately, from the primary research data gathered, there seems to be little to not support systems in place for victims of domestic abuse within the workplace, yet this can have negative consequences on the organisation.

## 6. Discussion

Reflecting on the primary research carried out, the results linked back majorly with the secondary research discussed in the literature review. This current research focused specifically on the impacts on the employer as a result of employee's being domestically abused at home with specific focus to the changes a victim would experience within work and what employers could do to support them. This also explored the current policies and support the victims experienced within their workplace and what could be implemented by employers. The themes discovered as a result of the interviews will be discussed.

From the evidence provided, it seemed that majority of the participants were apprehensive to reach out for help within their place of work due to many reasons. Many were embarrassed to share this aspect of their life with their colleagues or management even if they could have benefits from this, even to have someone to talk to and listen to. There seems to be a feeling of shame and embarrassment (Iverson, Shenk, and Fruzzetti, 2009) for victims to admit to someone that their partner is abusing them due to the judgement they may receive. People are quick to judge in such situations and with lack of education and awareness in regards to this topic, they cannot understand the effects of this fully on the victim. Even when participants did reach out and told someone in work, they were faced with negative reactions such as being dismissed or completely ignored, which would diminish the participant's confidence to reach out for help again or to someone else. This is why it is so important to treat these sensitive personal matters with support and understanding. Some participants claimed that people close friends or family did not understand why they were still with their abuser if he was so bad and why they didn't leave yet. However, the psychological impact on a victim can be so detrimental that many experience unhealthy attachment towards their abuser, making them feel that they are not worthy or being alone or with another person. Financial stability also plays an important role in victims being able to leave, especially if they have children. The fear which comes with speaking out when you have children has frozen some of the participants from accessing help in case their children will be taken from them by social services. This is due to the some governments claiming that children must be removed from abusive households as they question the mother's ability to protect them from the abuser (Wilson, 2005). Therefore, understandably some of the participants feared that if anyone were to find out about the domestic abuse, they would have social services involved and would risk of losing their children, preferring to keep quiet. This is when the importance

of confidentiality within the workplace becomes extremely important because if an employee reaches out for help within their workplace and the information is not kept confidential, other may find out and the employee could have their children taken from them as a result. The lack of policy regarding this does not help either as many managers are not trained on how to deal with such a sensitive topic and many people do not know what signs to look out for to notice domestic abuse or how to even approach it if they suspect someone is affected by this. However, it is important that if there are policies implanted, that these are enforced adequately and that the employees are made aware of them. Without the resources provided to promote employees to reach out for help in work, many victims will stay silent or make up excuses when their experience affects their work, leaving employers to question why their behaviour or work has changed. It is interesting to note that out of the participants for this study, 5 of these worked within the healthcare industry. However, this is a minuscule number to be able to give an educated guess on whether the industry the victim works in has anything to do with their impact in employment or the lack of support systems provided. As this is such a traumatic experience for anyone, it came to no surprise when this had negative consequences on their work. Participants experienced lack of concentration, an increase in sick days, lateness's and absences, an increase in errors made and a lack of focus while in work. These all affect an organisations cost as the productivity of an employee drops along with an increase in mistakes, depending on the industry, this could mean additional material costs or additional hours paid in order to meet targets.

The rise in turnover as some participants had to resign or were forced out of employment results in an inflation of recruitment fees for the organisation, as well as additional fees for training the new hires. Additionally, the impact in attendance can raise organisational costs also. As a participant mentioned above, her attendance was affected the most as she had more sick days, more lateness's and unexplained absent days. This was the reality for many of the participants as they had to take time off to either heal from physical or psychological injuries caused by their abuser, or were frequently late as their abuser tried to inhibit them from going to work as discussed in the results chapter. This could potentially increase an organisations costs but also affect the other employee's morale as they may need to pick up more work when the victim is late or is not in. Other costs may be hidden in sick pay or long term sickness payments and potentially having to pay another person to come in and do the victim's job while they are absent. Depending on what the company benefits are, medical costs may rise and an in some cases, legal costs may be necessary. There is still an

immense amount stigma and shame in regards to domestic abuse on the victims which is stopping victims from speaking up or seeking support (Crawford, Liebling-Kalifani, and Hill, 2009). Therefore in some instances, the victims not speaking out may be potentially lead to her being dismissed due to her productivity, attendance and quality of work being affected. This is a tough situation for both employee and employer as the employee is losing their employment stability which could put them at more risk of abuse and the employer could lose out on a potentially great worker, on top of the inflation in recruitment fees. Perhaps if the victim spoke to her manager, the dismissal could be avoided. This is when support from an employer would be extremely beneficial for both parties involved.

As a result of the types of abuse the participants and victims of domestic abuse face, many of the participants had developed long term mental health illnesses as a result. Many of the participants were experienced depression, anxiety and even PTSD during and after the relationship was terminated. Roberts, Lawrence and Williams (1998) came across these findings from their research also adding that victims may increase their alcohol intake to a harmful amount or even become dependent on drugs as a coping mechanism. This would be a potential cause for a victims change in work However, this theory has not been studied intensely in this research. It would be suggested that a study is carried out to further understand the link between domestic abuse victims, substance dependency as a result and the impact this could have on their employer. The participant's mental health illnesses could be another influence which may impact their quality of work and productivity, negatively impacting the company. An organisation which may have mental health support systems such as paid counselling or employee assistance programs would aid in the recovery process of a victim. Some of the participants in this study claimed that being absent of late to work gave them anxiety as they knew they would have to deal with their manager questioning them in work, especially if this is reoccurring.

Lastly, the types of abuse the participants had experienced affected them in their employment also. While all experienced psychological and physical abuse, some experienced sexual and financial also. There is not much employers can do to a victim who is physically hurt by their abused apart from providing the necessary time off to heal of give them different tasks which would not hurt them further. A participant did mention that she was unable to do some of the duties she had to carry out in work as a result to her injuries following physical abuse by her partner. Some of the participants stated that as a result, they had changed their attitude in work and some even feared men in general and the men who they were working

with as they didn't trust that these would not hurt them. There was only one participant who reached out to her manager for help but she did note that she doesn't think she would have reached out if her manager was male. This put focus on how important gender diversity is within the workplace as some employees may feel more comfortable too reach out to a female rather than a male and vice versa. Furthermore, sexual harassment within the workplace should be diminished and policies should be in place to protect the employees. This is extremely important to note as one of the participants which was sexually abused experienced sexual harassment within her workplace also by male managers, therefore polluting the one place she used as an escape from her abusive partner. If the sexual harassment would not have occurred, the participant would have been more inclined to reach out for help to her colleagues or managers. Employers are generally unaware of such instances happening within the workplace or that their employees are being sexually harassed or experiencing domestic abuse, and sometimes choose to turn a blind eye if they are aware. However this will have detrimental effects on the organisations success and overall profit, especially in the long run which is why it would be advised to pay more attention to why an employee may be experiencing outside of work as this often affects their work life also. It is not sufficient to ignore a struggling employee or dismiss them as it would add to the organisational costs but could also have a negative impact on the rest of the employees to see a fellow co-worker being treated in a dissatisfactory manner as a result of them experiencing domestic abuse. When financial abuse is involved, the victim's employment stability is even more important to them as this gives them financial stability which could help them exit the abusive relationship. Taking this financial stability from them would only trap the victim in abuse for longer.

The idea behind this research at the start was to see if domestic abuse has any impact on the victim's employment stability and the overall impacts the employer may experience. From all the evidence provided, we can see that there is a clear link between domestic abuse and employment as all the participants which were interviewed stated that their employment was impacted as a result of them experiencing domestic abuse. Some were more impacted while others decided to focus more on work as it they used it as an escaped, either way, there were many things which had an impact on their employment stability. Many were late or absent from work as results while others struggled to be productive, lacking focus or concentration. The quality of work was also impacted as some participants experienced disruptions in work by their abuser, either coming in and causing a scene or constantly calling

and texting them. However, this study findings must be considered in light of the limitations mentioned previously. This research had a small candidate pool and more participants would be needed in order to deduct a more precise understanding of the impacts within an organisation. Discuss strength of study, allowed participants to explain their experience/ other research to compare women from 90 to todays.

### 7. Conclusion

In conclusion, the aim of this qualitative research was to understand what the impact of domestically abused employees are on an organisation and what an employer can do to support them. Secondary research was studied to gather a better understanding on the published literature in regards to this topic which was followed by primary research carried out through semi structured interviews. I was important to gain a better understanding on what employers can do on their part to support these victims as this would benefit the organisation in the long run. This research points to a clear impact on the employers through an inflation in costs. As employees experiencing domestic abuse had their productivity, attendance and quality of work negatively impacted, it resulted in potential additional costs for the organisation along with potential conflict among colleagues or decreased employee morale. Morally, employers should provide support and make reasonable adjustments to make sure that all victims become survivors and exit the toxic relationship, making the workplace a safe space. Further research is needed in this area to further expand on the optimum support systems an employer could provide for victims.

# 7.1. Recommendations, Timeline and Cost

The onus does not just stand on the employer to support their employees but on the employees themselves also to speak up and tell their employer they are suffering with domestic abuse which is why they may be late, absent or their work may be poorer. If an employer is not aware of a situation, they cannot help or support that employee. As there are policies in place for bereavement, performance or sickness which have proven to be useful to employees, it would be recommended that a policy for domestic abuse may be implanted also. It wouldn't have to necessarily be very in depth, an explanation of what domestic abuse

is, what supports there are for employees experiencing this and other information on services which could be accessed may be helpful. Posters with available support services for domestic abuse victims could be hung up in bathroom, encouraging a victim to discretely look at the poster or take down details compared to if the poster was hung up in a public area, they may feel intimidated or judged by fellow co-workers. Hanging up a posted with available resources has minimum cost, however it could be extremely helpful for the victims. Awareness on this issue could be beneficial also, where all employees are able to understand what domestic abuse is, how it manifests and the negatives which come with this. By raising more awareness, a victim may feel less judgement from co-workers, and gain confidence to reach out for help, diminishing the stigma which encompasses this topic. It would be recommended that employers provide an EAP to aid with the victim,s recovery and other employees suffering with their mental health. According to Attridge, Amaral, Bjornson, Goplerud, Herlihy, McPherson, Paul, Routledge, Sharar, Stephenson, and Teems, (2010) an EAP programs is cost efficient for an employer in the long run due to the benefits on the employees, including positively changing work culture and boosting morale. Training should be provided to all employees, including members of management annually where employees are talked through what domestic abuse is, how to notice it among colleagues or themselves and how to approach this topic. Management should be given additional training on how to deal with an employee who is confiding in them that they are experiencing domestic abuse. Training should be mandatory for everyone as to not single out or discourage victims of domestic abuse to attend. Training could be provided by a qualified internal person if there is one which would be cost efficient or a company could reach out to specialised trainers in this area. This would turn out to be more costly than previous resources mentioned, however, training would only have to occur once a year and may only take a few hours or even less. Most importantly, employers should emphasize how important confidentiality and discretion is when dealing with such sensitive and personal information.

#### 7.2. Personal Reflection

When I initially started out this research journey, I was influenced by working within HR and dealing with an employee which had experienced domestic abuse and was looking for support as her work was affected. This sparked an interest in me to understand why there was not much awareness raised regarding domestic abuse within the workplace as it clearly

had negative consequences on her work. Furthermore, I wanted to understand what how exactly domestic abuse impacts an employer and their costs and if this was an area that employers should take into consideration. Finding participants for the interviews was quite challenging as this is an extremely sensitive topic and for a brief moment I was discouraged by this but in the end managed to find an adequate number of participants to interview. Doing the interview was tougher than I anticipated and it emotionally impacted me slightly, therefore, I had to take an hour break in between interviews in order to process. Listening to the participants stories was hard as I'm an empath and I found myself putting myself in their shoes as they spoke, taking on their emotional burden. However, I found this experience extremely rewarding also and the participant's enthusiasm to carry out the interview and raise awareness motivated me even further to carry out this study to the best of my ability and not disappoint them. Overall the skills I have gained from this research will benefit me for years to come, especially within my career but in my personal life also.

### **References:**

Attridge, M., Amaral, T.M., Bjornson, T., Goplerud, E.N., Herlihy, P.A., McPherson, T.L., Paul, R., Routledge, S., Sharar, D.A., Stephenson, D. and Teems, L., (2010) The business value of EAP: a conceptual model. Available at:

https://archive.hshsl.umaryland.edu/handle/10713/5135 [Accessed 16th August 2021]

Adams, AE, Tolman, RM, Bybee, D., Sullivan, CM, & Kennedy, AC (2012). 'The Impact of Intimate Partner Violence on Low-Income Women's Economic Well-Being'. Violence Against Women, 18 (12), 1345-1367. doi: 10.1177 / 1077801212474294 [Accessed 4th July 2021]

Banyard, V., Potter, S. and Turner, H. (2011) 'The impact of interpersonal violence in adulthood on women's job satisfaction and productivity: The mediating roles of mental and physical health.' Psychology of Violence, 1(1), pp.16-28. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021691 [Accessed 21st January 2021]

Beck, J. G., Clapp, J. D., Jacobs-Lentz, J., McNiff, J., Avery, M., & Olsen, S. A. (2014). 'The Association of Mental Health Conditions With Employment, Interpersonal, and Subjective Functioning After Intimate Partner Violence.' Violence Against Women, 20(11), 1321–1337. doi:10.1177/1077801214552855 [Accessed 15th July 2021]

Benbow, S.M., Bhattacharyya, S., and Kingston, P. (2018) 'What's in a name? Family violence involving older adults', The Journal of Adult Protection, 20(5/6), pp. 187–192. doi: 10.1108/JAP-08-2018-0016. [Accessed on 21st January 2021]

Braun, V. & Clarke, V., (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology.' Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), pp. 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa. [Accessed 11th August 2021]

Brown, J.A., (2004) 'Shame and domestic violence: Treatment perspectives for perpetrators from self psychology and affect theory.' Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 19(1), pp.39-56. Doi: 10.1080/14681990410001640826 [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Cameron, P., (2014) Relationship problems and money: Women talk about financial abuse. Women's Information & Referral Exchange Incorporated. Available at: http://rubyconnection.com.au/media/5078419/wire-research-report\_relationship-problems-and-money-women-talk-about-financial-abuse-august2014.pdf [Accessed 12th August 2021]

Choy, L.T.(2014) The strengths and weaknesses of research methodology: Comparison and complimentary between qualitative and quantitative approaches. IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 19(4), pp.99-104.

Cohen, D. and Crabtree, B., (2006) Qualitative research guidelines project. Available at: https://sswm.info/sites/default/files/reference\_attachments/COHEN%202006%20Semistructu red%20Interview.pdf [Accessed 8th August 2021]

Crawford, E., Liebling-Kalifani, H. and Hill, V., (2009) Women's understanding of the effects of domestic abuse: The impact on their identity, sense of self and resilience. A grounded theory approach. Journal of international women's studies, 11(2), pp.63-82. Available at: https://vc.bridgew.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1171&context=jiws [Accessed 14th August 2021]

Dickson-Swift, V., James, E. L., Kippen, S., & Liamputtong, P. (2009). 'Researching sensitive topics: qualitative research as emotion work.' Qualitative Research, 9(1), 61–79. doi:10.1177/1468794108098031 [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Doyle, J., (2020) Domestic violence and Covid-19 in Ireland. Available at: https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/libraryResearch/2020/2020-06-09\_l-rs-note-domestic-violence-and-covid-19-in-ireland en.pdf [Accessed 22nd January 2021]

Gayed, A., Milligan-Saville, J.S., Nicholas, J., Bryan, B.T., LaMontagne, A.D., Milner, A., Madan, I., Calvo, R.A., Christensen, H., Mykletun, A. and Glozier, N., (2018) 'Effectiveness of training workplace managers to understand and support the mental health needs of employees: a systematic review and meta-analysis.' Occupational and environmental medicine, 75(6), pp.462-470. Available at: https://oem.bmj.com/content/75/6/462.abstract [Accessed 13th August 2021]

IrishJobs Career Advice. (2019) Bereavement Leave - IrishJobs Career Advice. Available at: https://www.irishjobs.ie/careeradvice/bereavement-leave/ [Accessed 13 August 2021].

Iverson, K.M., Shenk, C. and Fruzzetti, A.E., (2009) 'Dialectical behavior therapy for women victims of domestic abuse: A pilot study. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 40(3), p.242. doi: 10.1037/a0013476 [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Johnson, P. R., & Indvik, J. (1999). The organizational benefits of assisting partnerally abused employees. Public Personnel Management, 28, 365-374, Available at:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/009102609902800304 [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

Johnson, P.R. and Gardner, S., (1999) 'Domestic violence and the workplace: Developing a company response' Journal of Management Development. Available at: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/02621719910284440/full/html [Accessed 28th July 2021]

Kahui, S., Ku, B. and Snively, S., (2014) Productivity gains from workplace protection of victims of domestic violence. MoreMedia Enterprises. Available at: https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/workplace\_productivity\_improvements\_for\_dv\_21\_may\_2014.pdf [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

Leighton, K., Kardong-Edgren, S., Schneidereith, T. and Foisy-Doll, C., (2021) 'Using Social Media and Snowball Sampling as an Alternative Recruitment Strategy for Research'. Clinical Simulation in Nursing, 55, pp.37-42. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/312118239\_Using\_Social\_Media\_and\_Targeted\_S nowball\_Sampling\_to\_Survey\_a\_Hard-to-

reach\_Population\_A\_Case\_Study#fullTextFileContent [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Lindhorst, T., Oxford, M., & Gillmore, MR (2007). Longitudinal Effects of Domestic Violence on Employment and Welfare Outcomes. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 22 (7), 812-828. doi: 10.1177 / 0886260507301477 [Accessed 4th July 2021]

Lindquist, C. H., McKay, T., Clinton-Sherrod, A. M., Pollack, K. M., Lasater, B. M., & Walters, J. L. H. (2010). 'The Role of Employee Assistance Programs in Workplace-Based Intimate Partner Violence Intervention and Prevention Activities.' Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 25(1), 46–64. doi:10.1080/15555240903538980 [Accessed 20th July 2021]

Lloyd, S. and Taluc, N., (1999) The effects of male violence on female employment. Violence against women, 5(4), pp.370-392. Available at:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/10778019922181275 [Accessed 26th June 2021]

Lloyd, S., 1997. 'The effects of domestic violence on women's employment.' Law & Policy, 19(2), pp.139-167. Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1467-9930.00025 [Accessed 27th June 2021]

Logan, T., Shannon, L., Cole, J., & Swanberg, J. (2007). 'Partner Stalking and Implications for Women's Employment.' Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 22 (3), 268-291. doi: 10.1177 / 0886260506295380 [Accessed 10th July]

Mahase, E., (2020) Covid-19: EU states report 60% rise in emergency calls about domestic violence. BMJ: British Medical Journal (Online), 369. Available at: https://search.proquest.com/openview/11255fd2e5ba902a8cb651a20eeb035f/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2043523 [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

McGarry, J., Simpson, C. and Hinchliff-Smith, K., (2011) 'The impact of domestic abuse for older women: a review of the literature'. Health & social care in the community, 19(1), pp.3-14. Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2010.00964.x [Accessed 29th July 2021]

Merriam, S.B, (2002). Introduction to qualitative research. Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis, 1(1), pp.1-17.

Moe, A. and Bell, M. (2004) 'Abject Economics', Violence Against Women, 10(1), pp.29-55. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801203256016 [Accessed 21st January 2021]

National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2003) Costs of intimate partner violence against women in the United States. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/IPVBook-a.pdf [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

Oliver, R., Alexander, B., Roe, S. and Wlasny, M., (2019) 'The economic and social costs of domestic abuse.' *UK Home Office*. Available at:

https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/costs\_domestic\_abuse.pdf [Accessed 16th August 2021]

Patton, M. Q. (2005). Qualitative Research. Encyclopedia of Statistics in Behavioral Science. doi:10.1002/0470013192.bsa514

Reeves, C. and O'Leary-Kelly, A.M., (2007) The effects and costs of intimate partner violence for work organizations. Journal of Interpersonal violence, 22(3), pp.327-344. Available at: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0886260506295382 [Accessed 22nd January 2021]

Roberts, G. L., Lawrence, J. M., Williams, G. M., & Raphael, B. (1998). The impact of domestic violence on women's mental health. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 22(7), 796–801. doi:10.1111/j.1467-842x.1998.tb01496.x [Accessed 14th August 2021]

Safe Lives, (2017) Safe Young Lives: Young People and Domestic Abuse. Safe Lives. Available

at:https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20Young%20Lives%20web.pdf [Accessed on 22nd January 2021]

Sanderson, C., (2008) Counselling survivors of domestic abuse. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Showalter, K., & McCloskey, R. J. (2020). 'A Qualitative Study of Intimate Partner Violence and Employment Instability.' Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 088626052090314. doi:10.1177/0886260520903140 [Accessed 16th July 2021]

Showalter, K., (2016) Women's employment and domestic violence: A review of the literature. Aggression and Violent Behavior, [online] 31, pp.37-47. Available at: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S1359178916300891?token=0D96EBB3A4CBE11C 7933DF31F3CCB35A359ACFB1457C7355A64987B4D940FADDBFDCBBC0F58ED4C44 3734750CC4B875D [Accessed 21st January 2021].

Swanberg, J. E., Macke, C., & Logan, T. (2006). Intimate Partner Violence, Women, and Work: Coping on the Job. Violence and Victims, 21(5), 561–578. doi:10.1891/0886-6708.21.5.561 [Accessed 29th July 2021]

Taub, A., (2020) 'A new Covid-19 crisis: Domestic abuse rises worldwide.' The New York Times, 6. Available at: https://chescocf.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Domestic-Abuse-Rises-Worldwide-New-York-Times.pdf [Accessed 28th July 2021]

Tehan, M. and Thompson, N. (2013) 'Loss and Grief in the Workplace: The Challenge of Leadership', OMEGA - Journal of Death and Dying, 66(3), pp. 265–280. doi: 10.2190/OM.66.3.d. [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Tolman, R. M., & Wang, H. C. (2005). 'Domestic Violence and Women's Employment: Fixed Effects Models of Three Waves of Women's Employment Study Data.' American Journal of Community Psychology, 36(1-2), 147–158. doi:10.1007/s10464-005-6239-0 [Accessed 27th June 2021]

Vara-Horna, A. (2014) 'Violence against women and its financial consequences for businesses in Peru.' University of San Martin de Porres, Lima, Peru. Available at: https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/giz2014-0251en-violence-women-financial-consequences-peru.pdf [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

Vodafone (2019) The workplace impacts of domestic violence and abuse, A KPMG report for Vodafone Group. Available at:

https://www.vodafone.com/content/dam/vodcom/images/homepage/kpmg\_report\_workplace \_impacts\_of\_domestic\_violence\_and\_abuse.pdf [Accessed 23rd January 2021]

Watson, D. and Parsons, S., (2005) Domestic abuse of women and men in Ireland: Report on the national study of domestic abuse. Government Publications Office. Available at: https://www.lenus.ie/bitstream/handle/10147/296804/?sequence=1 [Accessed on 20th January 2021]

Widiss, D. A. (2008). 'Domestic violence and the workplace: the explosion of state legislation and the need for a comprehensive strategy.' Florida State University Law Review, 35, 669–728. Available at:

https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=76212712511312611910408903008407909212 107100903505905011701310200007811310903108112605010109804404204004206410612 207507208808010403800006008610609610906711712607509100304800702901712400312 2008003007107000091003015108107099124107127093116065067104122&EXT=pdf&IN DEX=TRUE [Accessed 20th July 2021]

Widiss, D.A., (2018) 'Addressing the workplace effects of intimate partner violence.' In Violence and abuse in and around organisations (pp. 127-144). Routledge. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3056431 [Accessed 24th July 2021]

Wilson, D. M., Rodríguez-Prat, A., & Low, G. (2020). 'The potential impact of bereavement grief on workers, work, careers, and the workplace.' Social Work in Health Care, 1–16. doi:10.1080/00981389.2020.1769247 [Accessed 13th August 2021]

Wilson, K.J., (2005) When violence begins at home: A comprehensive guide to understanding and ending domestic abuse. Hunter House. Available at: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=HxZsgnChqZIC&oi=fnd&pg=PR10&dq=at +is+domestic+abuse&ots=U10dPsEZpO&sig=of1Wxwi8vuCiKtWQ96DOoAExsR8#v=onep age&q&f=false [Accessed 29th July 2021]

Wilson, K.J., (2005) When violence begins at home: A comprehensive guide to understanding and ending domestic abuse. Hunter House. Available at: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=HxZsgnChqZIC&oi=fnd&pg=PR10&dq=at +is+domestic+abuse&ots=U10dPsEZpO&sig=of1Wxwi8vuCiKtWQ96DOoAExsR8#v=onep age&q=at%20is%20domestic%20abuse&f=false [Accessed 13th August 2021]

World Health Organization, (2013) Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. World Health Organization. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85239/?sequence=1 [Accessed 24th July

Women's Aid - Domestic violence service in Ireland. (2019) *National and International Statistics* | *Women's Aid - Domestic Violence Service In Ireland*. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.womensaid.ie/about/policy/natintstats.html">https://www.womensaid.ie/about/policy/natintstats.html</a> [Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> January 2021].

2021]

# **Appendices**

# Appendix A: Interview questions:

- 1. What was your relationship with the abuser?
- 2. How long were you in the relationship for?
- 3. When did you first notice signs of abuse?
- 4. How did the domestic abuse manifest?
- 5. Has the relationship been terminated? If so when?
- 6. Are you currently in an abusive relationship?
- 7. Were you employed during the period that domestic abuse was occurring?
- 8. What industry were you employed in?
- 9. Did you find it more difficult to get employed during this time?
- 10. What were some of the barriers you faced when looking for a job?
- 11. Did you reach out to any colleagues or a person from management?
- 12. Were you offered support when you reached out?
- 13. Did you feel that there was support there if you were to reach out?
- 14. Did you notice a change in your work life due to the abuse?
- 15. How did this change in work manifest?
- 16. Did you notice a change in your productivity and quality of work during this time?
- 17. What were the changes you noticed?
- 18. Did you feel embarrassed to reach out for help? / Did you feel embarrassed after you reached out for help?
- 19. What do you feel that companies could have done more of to support domestic abuse victims?

Appendix B: Types of abuse

Row Labels	<b>Count of Interview</b>
Physical and psychological	5
Physical, psychological, sexual	1
Psychological, physical, sexual, financial	3
Grand Total	9

# Appendix C: A breakdown of the abuse each participant endured

Participant 3	Physical and psychological
Participant 5	Physical and psychological
Participant 6	Physical and psychological
Participant 7	Physical and psychological
Participant 9	Physical and psychological
Participant 4	Physical, psychological, sexual
Participant 1	Psychological, physical, sexual, financial
Participant2	Psychological, physical, sexual, financial
Participant 8	Psychological, physical, sexual, financial

# Appendix D: Interview information sheet

# Examining the impact of domestic abuse survivors on employee performance and recommendations for the employer.

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Before you decide you need to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask questions if anything you read is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not to take part.

#### WHO I AM AND WHAT THIS STUDY IS ABOUT

My name is Violeta and I'm originally from Romania but have been living in Dublin, Ireland for the past 14 years. I have a Bachelor's degree in Human Resource Management and currently doing a master's in HRM. The overall aim of this study if to gather a better understanding on how organisations can support domestic abuse victims and how the victim's productivity within the workplace is affected.

### WHAT WILL TAKING PART INVOLVE?

The participant will be interviewed on Microsoft Teams using video and audio. The interview will be recorded for this research purposes only and will not be shared anywhere to protect the participant's anonymity and confidentiality. The interview will be roughly 30 minutes and topics such as how the domestic abuse manifested and how this impacted your work life will be discussed.

#### WHY HAVE YOU BEEN INVITED TO TAKE PART?

You have been invited to take part in this research as you have confided in me that you have been domestically abused in the past or currently are a victim of this. I know this is an extremely sensitive and triggering subject. Therefore, I would like to thank you for reaching out to me to share your experience.

#### DO YOU HAVE TO TAKE PART?

You do not have to take part in this, participation is 100% voluntary. If you do not feel comfortable to go ahead with the interview you are entitled to refuse the participation. You do not have to answer any questions you do not want to and you can withdraw from this interview at any time.

#### WHAT ARE THE POSSIBLE RISKS AND BENEFITS OF TAKING PART?

The benefits of this research is that organisations can have a better understanding of how to help victims of domestic abuse. This could provide victims with support from their workplace and in return this may drive loyalty, motivation and an increase in productivity from the employees. This could be a triggering experience for the participant due to the sensitivity of the subject. The participant can refuse to answer a questions, request to take a short break or withdraw from the research during the interview. The list below provides names and contact details of organisations which victims of domestic abuse can reach out to for help.

<u>Womens Aid</u> provide 24hr free phone helpline when you ring **1800 341 900** in Ireland. More information available at www.womensaid.ie

<u>Samaritans</u> provide 24hr free phone helpline when you ring **116 123** and also have a feature where you can chat online on their website. More information available at <a href="https://www.samaritans.org">www.samaritans.org</a>

<u>AnyMan</u> provide helpline support for men who have been domestically abused when you ring **01 554 3811**. They also provide counselling over the phone and in person. More information can be found at <a href="https://www.menaid.ie">www.menaid.ie</a>.

Rape Crisis Centre provide support for women throughout Ireland and England and have a 24hr helpline when you ring 1800 778 888. More information can be found at <a href="https://www.drcc.ie">www.drcc.ie</a>

#### WILL TAKING PART BE CONFIDENTIAL?

Your name will not be used in the dissertation and your identity will be kept anonymous. Everything you disclose will be confidential and the only people who will have access to your information is myself and my dissertation supervisor, Michael Cleary-Gaffney. A non-anonymised consent form and recording of the interview will be collected and retained as part

of my research process. All data will be collected on my personal laptop and retained in a private memory USB stick and stored away in a private, secure place.

# HOW WILL INFORMATION YOU PROVIDE BE RECORDED, STORED AND PROTECTED?

The interview will be recorded and all data will be collected on my personal laptop and retained in a private memory USB stick and stored away in a private, secure place. Signed consent forms and original recordings will be retained in my house until after my degree has been conferred. A transcript of interviews in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for a further two years after this. Under freedom of information legalisation you are entitled to access the information you have provided at any time.

#### WHAT WILL HAPPEN TO THE RESULTS OF THE STUDY?

This study will be used in submitting my dissertation to National College of Ireland.

# WHO SHOULD YOU CONTACT FOR FURTHER INFORMATION?

You can contact me at any time by emailing me at <u>violetamunteanu89@gmail.com</u> or ringing my number 0877520034. You can also contact my supervisor Michael Cleary-Gaffney at <u>michael.cleary-gaffney@ncirl.ie</u>

Thank you much for your time!

# Appendix E: Consent form

# Examining the impact of domestic abuse survivors on employee performance and recommendations for the employer.

# **Consent to take part in research**

•	I	voluntarily agree to participate in this research
	study.	

- I understand that even if I agree to participate now, I can withdraw at any time or refuse to answer any question without any consequences of any kind.
- I understand that I can withdraw permission to use data from my interview within two weeks after the interview, in which case the material will be deleted.
- I have had the purpose and nature of the study explained to me in writing and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.
- I understand that participation involve me sharing my experience with domestic abuse.
- I understand that I will not benefit directly from participating in this research.
- I agree to my interview being video and audio-recorded.
- I understand that all information I provide for this study will be treated confidentially.
- I understand that in any report on the results of this research my identity will remain anonymous. This will be done by changing my name and disguising any details of my interview which may reveal my identity or the identity of people I speak about.
- I understand that disguised extracts from my interview may be quoted in a dissertation.
- I understand that if I inform the researcher that myself or someone else is at risk of harm they may have to report this to the relevant authorities they will discuss this with me first but may be required to report with or without my permission.
- I understand that signed consent forms and original audio recordings will be retained in the researchers house on a memory USB stick until December 2021
- I understand that a transcript of my interview in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for two years

- I understand that under freedom of information legalisation I am entitled to access the information I have provided at any time while it is in storage as specified above.
- I understand that I am free to contact any of the people involved in the research to seek further clarification and information.

Researcher:	Supervisor:
Violeta Munteanu - BA (Hons) in HRM Psychology	Michael Cleary-Gaffney- PhD in
Violetamunteanu89@gmail.com	michael.cleary-gaffney@ncirl.ie
0877520034	
Signature of research participant	
Signature of participant Date	
Signature of researcher	
I believe the participant is giving informed consent	t to participate in this study
Signature of researcher Date	